# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 2/23/2023 2:08 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/24/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>101745-6</u> Court of Appeals, Division III No. 378047 Grant Co. Superior Court Cause No. 18-2-00746-13

\_\_\_\_\_

#### SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON STATE

\_\_\_\_\_

THE ESTATE OF CINDY ESSEX, by and through JUDY ESSEX, as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF CINDY ESSEX,

Petitioners,

VS.

GRANT COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 1, d/b/a SAMARITAN HEALTHCARE, a Public Hospital; et. al.,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

This Petition for Review is filed on behalf of Judy Essex, as personal representative of the estate of her deceased daughter, Cindy Essex.

#### **COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Although the medical negligence statute incorporates general principles of agency law into the definition of a health care provider or institution, RCW 7.70.020(2) & (3), the Court of Appeals below held that "ostensible agency is the *sole* basis for holding a hospital vicariously liable for the negligence of nonemployee physicians." *Essex v. Grant County Public Hosp. Dist.*, — Wn. App. 2d —, 523 P.3d 242, 245 (2023) (emphasis added). This decision conflicts with other Washington decisions and presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) & (4).

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The decision is reproduced in the Appendix.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. When is a hospital legally responsible for the negligence of nonemployed physicians treating patients who come to the hospital's emergency room? In particular, is the hospital subject to liability for (1) breach of a nondelegable duty, (2) an inherent function of the hospital, and/or (3) agency law principles of delegation? Or, is the hospital's liability limited to ostensible agency?
- 2. Is there a question of fact regarding Essex's separate claim for direct liability based on corporate negligence?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This review involves medical negligence and related claims arising from the failure to timely diagnose and treat necrotizing fasciitis suffered by Cindy Essex, which led to her death. Necrotizing fasciitis—also known as "flesh eating disease"—is an infection that results in the destruction of the body's soft tissues. Judy Essex, the mother of Cindy Essex and personal representative of her estate ("Essex"), filed suit against the health care providers who failed to timely diagnose and treat her daughter: Grant County Public Hospital District No. 1, also known as Samaritan Healthcare ("Samaritan"); emergency room physician Christopher Davis, MD ("Dr. Davis"), whose

employer had contracted with Samaritan to staff the hospital's emergency room; and radiologist Irene Cruite, MD ("Dr. Cruite"), whose employer had contracted with Samaritan to read imaging taken in the hospital's emergency room.

#### A. Background facts.

Cindy Essex came to the Samaritan emergency room in Moses Lake because she was experiencing intense pain in her left chest and shoulder, rated as "10" on a scale of 1 to 10. CP 509. She appeared "very uncomfortable" to Samaritan nurses and reported that her pain was causing abdominal cramping. CP 507. The nurses took her to a "quiet room" to wait for an evaluation by the emergency room physician. CP 511. While there, she was "yelling out" in pain and writhing around on the bed. CP 512.

Cindy Essex remained in the Samaritan emergency room for more than six hours, and she was eventually transferred to Central Washington Hospital in Wenatchee on a non-emergency basis. During her time in the Samaritan emergency room, she was attended by Dr. Davis and Dr. Cruite, both of whom violated the

standard of care, resulting in misdiagnosis of her condition as gastric outlet obstruction and delaying proper diagnosis and treatment of her necrotizing fasciitis.

By the time Cindy Essex arrived at Central Washington Hospital and was properly diagnosed, it was too late to save her. The "extent and advanced nature" of the necrotizing fasciitis "represented a nonsurvivable condition" and Cindy Essex succumbed to the infection. CP 248-49. If the condition had been timely diagnosed and treated, she would have survived. CP 577 & 579-80.

The standard of care required Dr. Davis to: (1) address Cindy Essex's chief complaint of shoulder and chest pain, CP 1570; (2) evaluate her as soon as possible, given her symptoms, rather than waiting for 77 minutes after her arrival, *id.*; (3) conduct an adequate evaluation and conduct a differential diagnosis that includes all possible causes of her symptoms, CP 1570-71; (4) properly interpret her lab and imaging results, CP 1571-72; (5) order a C-Reactive Protein (CRP) test, given her

symptoms, CP 1572; and (6) monitor and re-evaluate when there were changes in her condition, CP 1576-79; and (7) make a proper "hand-off" to another physician when his shift ended, CP 996-1001.

Dr. Davis violated the standard of care by: (1) ignoring Cindy Essex's chief complaint of shoulder and chest pain, CP 1570-71; (2) delaying her evaluation, CP 1570; (3) improperly diagnosing her with gastric outlet obstruction and failing to consider or rule out necrotizing fasciitis, CP 1570-71; (4) misinterpreting her lab and imaging results, CP 1571-72; (5) failing to order a CRP test, CP 1572; (6) failing to continue monitoring and re-assessing Cindy Essex's condition as it deteriorated, CP 1576-79; and (7) failing to make a proper hand-off to another physician when his shift ended, CP 996-1001.

Dr. Davis's misinterpretation of Cindy Essex's imaging results is explained in part by the failure of the radiologist, Dr. Cruite, to properly interpret the imaging. CP 1578. Nonetheless, Dr. Davis's independent violations of the standard of care

contributed to the misdiagnosis of Cindy Essex's condition, delayed proper diagnosis and treatment, and led directly to her death. CP 351 & 1579.

Dr. Cruite interpreted imaging of Cindy Essex's left chest and abdomen ordered by Dr. Davis. CP 519 & 523-27. She did not report any findings in Cindy Essex's left chest or shoulder, and instead reported that the scan was "suspicious for gastric outlet obstruction although no cause for obstruction is identified." CP 519 & 525.

Dr. Cruite violated the standard of care by "miss[ing] a very critical finding," consisting of "very obvious evidence of inflammation in the left lateral chest wall" in the imaging results of Cindy Essex. CP 356-57 (brackets added). This evidence was "critically important for the treating physician," Dr. Davis. *Id.* "Dr. Cruite's failure to identify the obvious in the available imagery likely changed the course of treatment and reduced [Cindy Essex's] chances of survival .... [b]ecause time is of the essence in cases involving necrotizing fasciitis and sepsis" and

"any delay in diagnosis increases the patient's odds of a bad outcome." CP 357 (brackets & ellipsis added).

#### B. Procedural history.

On December 10, 2019, Essex moved for partial summary judgment to establish the legal responsibility of Samaritan for the conduct of Drs. Davis and Cruite. CP 479. On March 23, 2020, the court issued a letter ruling explaining its rationale for denying the motion on grounds that hospital liability for nonemployed physicians is limited to ostensible agency. CP 1147-49. On June 5, 2020, the superior court entered a formal written order denying the motion. CP 1342. On June 15, 2020, Essex timely moved for reconsideration of the court's order. CP 1361. On September 11, 2020, the court denied reconsideration. CP 1509. On October 9 and 21, 2020, Essex timely filed a notice of discretionary review. CP 1516 & 2224.2 On January 6, 2021, the superior court subsequently certified its decisions for discretionary review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> An erratum was filed on October 21, 2020, to correct a clerical error in the prior notice. CP 2224.

CP 2331. The Court of Appeals accepted review of the certified issues and affirmed, and Essex timely seeks review.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>3</sup> Essex does not seek review of the decision of the Court of Appeals reversing the superior court regarding issues of proximate cause. *Essex*, 523 P.3d at 251-55. Nor does she seek review of the issue of concerted action, which was raised by the Court of Appeals sua sponte on review. *Id.* at 251.

However, Essex does seek review of the dismissal of her direct claim against Samaritan for corporate negligence. Id. at 252. While this aspect of the decision below involves application of settled law to the facts, and would not independently satisfy the criteria for review, the appellate court nonetheless erred in affirming dismissal of this claim. See infra note 9. It is permissible to enlarge the scope of review when the case is otherwise properly before the Court. RAP 1.2(a) ("These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits"); cf. Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FHC LLC, 166 Wn.2d 178, 185-86, 207 P.3d 1251, 1255 (2009) ("The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review of the trial court's ruling denying Colonial's motion for summary judgment and, in the interests of judicial economy, also granted review of the summary judgment dismissing the individual members and entities that formed Colonial"). Accordingly, Essex asks the Court to accept review of this issue if review is otherwise granted. See infra note 9.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. Hospital liability for the negligence of nonemployed physicians treating patients who come to the hospital's emergency room presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court; and the Court of Appeals decision limiting hospital liability to ostensible agency conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals as well as the medical negligence statute.

In *Adamski v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp.*, 20 Wn. App. 98, 579 P.2d 970 (1978), the Court of Appeals addressed hospital liability for nonemployed physicians who treat patients in the emergency room. A hospital is not subject to vicarious liability based on respondeat superior for the negligence of such physicians precisely because they are not employees. 20 Wn. App. at 104-05. Yet "[t]he experience of the courts has been that application of hornbook rules of agency to the hospital-physician relationship usually leads to unrealistic and unsatisfactory results, at least from the standpoint of the injured patient." *Id.* at 105 (brackets added).

Hospitals have "become more than just a place for physicians to bring their patients for treatment[.]" Adamski, 20

Wn. App. at 106 (brackets added). "[T]he hospital itself renders care and treatment through its facilities and employees," as well as contract physicians. *Id.* at 106-08 (brackets added). "[T]he most troublesome situation has been that where the patient, not having contacted his personal physician, presents himself at the hospital for treatment and is there provided with or referred to a physician, usually a specialist, who is neither an intern, resident or other salaried employee of the hospital." *Id.* at 108 (brackets added).

The court in *Adamski* held that hospital liability should not hinge upon the distinction between employed and contract physicians, reasoning as follows:

When, in fact, the hospital undertakes to provide medical treatment rather than merely serving as a place for a private physician to administer to his patients, the physician employed to deliver that service for the hospital may be looked upon as an integral part of the total "hospital enterprise." In such cases, it should make no difference that the physician is compensated on some basis other than salary or that he bills his patient directly. These are artificial distinctions, the efficacy of which has long since disappeared and to the perpetuation of which we do not subscribe.

20 Wn. App. at 108 (emphasis added; footnote omitted). Accordingly, the court held that a hospital is subject to liability for the negligence of nonemployed physicians on grounds of ostensible agency. *Id.* at 112 (citing Restatement (Second) of Agency § 267 (1958)). The decision below limited Essex to the theory of ostensible agency in attempting to hold Samaritan legally responsible for the conduct of nonemployed physicians like Drs. Davis and Cruite.

In addition to ostensible agency, *Adamski* recognized potential hospital liability for the negligence of nonemployed physicians treating patients in the emergency room based on breach of a nondelegable duty or performance of an inherent function of the hospital. Subsequent case law has not addressed these grounds for liability. Moreover, while *Adamski* recognized that a hospital is subject to liability based on ostensible agency, neither *Adamski* nor subsequent case law has directly addressed other grounds for liability based on other principles of agency law.

Patients injured by negligent treatment in the emergency room should *not* be limited to ostensible agency. Ostensible agency is not unique to the hospital liability context, but rather is a general principle of agency law "intended to protect third parties who justifiably rely upon the belief that another is the agent of a principal." *D.L.S. v. Maybin*, 130 Wn. App. 94, 97, 121 P.3d 1210 (2005). Ostensible agency requires proof that:

[1] the actions of the putative principal must lead a reasonable person to conclude the actors are employees or agents; [2] the plaintiff must believe they are agents; and [3] the plaintiff must, as a result, rely upon their care or skill, to her detriment.

*Id.*, 130 Wn. App. at 97 (citing *Adamski* inter alia; brackets added).

Although ostensible agency justifies imposition of hospital liability where applicable, it is unduly narrow and ill-suited to the negligence of nonemployee physicians in the emergency room. It is not reasonable to expect emergency patients to prove knowledge or reliance, especially when they are unconscious or in extreme pain when they arrive, as Cindy Essex

was when she arrived at Samaritan. It may not be possible for the estates and family members of patients who do not survive to even obtain admissible evidence of knowledge or reliance by the decedent.

As a result, this Court should accept review to determine whether, upon proper proof at trial, hospitals like Samaritan are subject to liability for the negligence of nonemployed physicians based upon breach of a nondelegable duty, performance of an inherent function of the hospital, and agency principles of delegation in addition to ostensible agency.<sup>4</sup>

## 1. Hospitals should be subject to liability for nondelegable duties imposed by licensing statutes and regulations.

"When an entity has a nondelegable duty, it cannot escape liability by delegating its duty to another entity." *Afoa v. Port of Seattle*, 191 Wn.2d 110, 123 n.10, 421 P.3d 903 (2018). "An

negligence).

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hospital liability for the negligence of nonemployed physicians is distinguished from hospital liability for breach of its own duty of care under the doctrine of corporate negligence. 6 Wash. Prac., *supra* WPI 105.02.02 (regarding direct liability for corporate

entity that delegates its nondelegable duty will be vicariously liable for the negligence of the entity subject to its delegation[.]" 191 Wn.2d at 124 (brackets added); *accord Vargas v. Inland Washington, LLC*, 194 Wn.2d 720, 738-39, 452 P.3d 1205 (2019) (quoting *Afoa* with approval).

Nondelegable duties are typically imposed by statutes or administrative regulations. *Tauscher v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.*, 96 Wn.2d 274, 285, 635 P.2d 426 (1981) ("administrative rules may impose nondelegable duties as do statutes"; citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 424 (1965)); *Pedroza v. Bryant*, 101 Wn.2d 226, 234, 677 P.2d 166 (1984) (recognizing hospitals' nondelegable duty for corporate negligence based in part on Department of Health regulations).

In *Adamski*, the court expressly recognized that laws governing hospital licensing may impose a nondelegable duty for care provided in the emergency room:

Pursuant to RCW Chapter 70.41, the Washington State Board of Health has adopted rules and regulations pertaining inter alia to the establishment and maintenance of standards for the care and treatment of patients. The regulations are extensive and comprehensive and, as they apply to emergency services, are contained in WAC 248.18.285. The regulations require a licensed hospital to provide emergency care services in accordance with the community's needs and the hospital's capabilities. Within this general framework, however, the hospital is also required to adopt written policies and procedures specific to emergency care services. One requirement is that there must be a physician responsible for the services, whose functions and responsibilities are subject to the medical direction of the hospital.

It could thus be argued that Washington state has imposed upon hospitals a duty to provide emergency care services to the public and that they cannot shift the responsibility by contract.

20 Wn. App. at 111 n.5 (emphasis added). However, the court did not address nondelegable duty further because the issue was not developed or argued by the parties. *Id*.

The statutes and regulations referenced in *Adamski* as supporting a nondelegable duty "require[d] a licensed hospital to provide emergency care services in accordance with the community's needs and the hospital's capabilities ... adopt written policies and procedures specific to emergency care services," including that "there must be a physician responsible for the

services, whose functions and responsibilities are subject to the medical direction of the hospital." 20 Wn. App. at 111 n.5 (citing Ch. 70.41 RCW and former WAC 248-18-285; brackets & ellipsis added). While these regulations are no longer in effect, the current regulations governing Samaritan impose similar, if not greater, nondelegable duties with respect to care provided in its emergency room.

The Legislature enacted Ch. 70.41 RCW for the "primary purpose" of "promot[ing] safe and adequate care of individuals in hospitals through the development, establishment and enforcement of minimum hospital standards for maintenance and operation." RCW 70.41.010 (brackets added). To accomplish this purpose, the Legislature authorized the Department of Health ("DOH") to establish and enforce rules and regulations for hospitals. RCW 70.41.010(3) & (4); RCW 70.41.030. Hospitals such as Samaritan are required to comply with these regulations. RCW 70.41.020(7) (defining "hospital").

Pursuant to this statutory authorization, DOH regulations require hospital leadership to "[p]rovide all patients access to safe and appropriate care." WAC 246-320-136(5). Hospital leadership must also "[a]dopt and implement policies and procedures which define standards of care for each specialty service" and "[p]rovide practitioner oversight for each specialty service with experience in those specialized services[.]" WAC 246-320-136(3)-(4) (brackets added). The referenced specialty services specifically include "[e]mergency" services. WAC 246-320-136(4) (brackets added). All of these obligations are phrased in terms of what hospital leadership "must" do and are therefore mandatory. Khandelwal v. Seattle Mun. Court, 6 Wn. App. 2d 323, 338, 431 P.3d 506 (2018) ("the words 'shall' and 'must' are synonymous under traditional principles of statutory construction and are both words of 'an unmistakably mandatory character").5

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> WAC 246-320-136 is reproduced in the Appendix.

With respect to emergency services in particular, DOH has also adopted regulations requiring hospitals to "[a]ssure emergency equipment, supplies and services necessary to meet the needs of presenting patients are immediately available." WAC 246-320-281(8). The hospital must also "[m]aintain the capacity to perform emergency triage and medical screening exam twenty-four hours per day," "[d]efine the qualifications and oversight of staff delivering emergency care services," and "[u]se hospital policies and procedures which define standards of care[.]" WAC 246-320-281(2)-(4). Again, these obligations are phrased in terms of what hospitals "must" do and are therefore mandatory. *Khandelwal*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 338.6

These regulations are comparable to those referenced in *Adamski* and give rise to a nondelegable duty on the part of hospitals with respect to the care provided in their emergency rooms. The requirements to "[p]rovide all patients access to safe

<sup>6</sup> WAC 246-320-281 is reproduced in the Appendix.

and appropriate care," WAC 246-320-136(5) and to "[a]ssure emergency equipment, supplies and services necessary to meet the needs of presenting patients are immediately available," WAC 246-320-281(8), actually go well beyond what was required by the regulations referenced in *Adamski*, which merely "require[d] a licensed hospital to provide emergency care services in accordance with the community's needs and the hospital's capabilities," 20 Wn. App. at 111 n.5.7

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