FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/24/2023 3:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 1017456 Court of Appeals, Division III No. 378047 Grant Co. Superior Court No. 18-2-00746-13

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON STATE

THE ESTATE OF CINDY ESSEX, by and through JUDY ESSEX, as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF CINDY ESSEX,

Petitioners,

VS.

GRANT COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 1, d/b/a SAMARITAN HEALTHCARE, a Public Hospital; et al.

Respondents.

GRANT COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 1 d/b/a SAMARITAN HEALTHCARE'S ANSWER TO PETITION

> JEROME R. AIKEN, WSBA #14647 Meyer, Fluegge & Tenney, P.S. 230 S. 2nd Street Yakima, WA 98901 (509) 575-8500 aiken@mftlaw.com

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. DIVISION III'S DECISION IN THIS CASE IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER APPELLATE COURT DECISION

This Court has already established the rule to apply in determining whether an independent contractor physician may be the ostensible or apparent agent of a hospital. The issue presented itself to this Court in Mohr v. Grantham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 262 P.3d 490 (2011).

In Mohr, this Court cited with approval and adopted the holding of the 1978 decision Adamski v. Tacoma General Hospital, 20 Wn. App. 98, 579 P.2d 970 (1978). The Adamski decision primarily adopted the theory of ostensible/apparent

agency. This theory has been relied upon by numerous trial courts. See, 6 Washington Practice, Washington Pattern Jury Instruction, Civil WPI 105.02.03 (7th Ed.).

Relying on <u>Adamski</u> and noting that there are several factors involved, this Court in <u>Mohr</u> determined that there was a factual issue whether non-employed physicians could be determined to be the apparent agents of the hospital. "As in <u>Adamski</u>, we find that a hospital may be, depending on the facts found by a jury, liable for the negligence of its contractor doctors, who are held out to be agents of the hospital." <u>Id.</u>, at 861-67.

Adamski v. Tacoma General Hospital, 20 Wn. App. 98, 579 P.2d 970 (1978) is the ground-breaking case in the state of Washington adopting the legal theory to apply to determine if a physician with staff privileges can be the apparent/ostensible agent of a hospital. The <u>Adamski</u> decision is the seminal case in Washington on that issue.

Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals in Adamski concluded a hospital may be vicariously liable for the acts of an independent physician under a theory of "holding out" or "ostensible agent." <u>Id.</u> at 112. Other courts have referred to this as an apparent agency theory, e.g., <u>Mohr v. Grantham</u>, 172 Wn.2d 844, 262 P.3d 490 (2011).

The Court in <u>Adamski</u> determined that under an ostensible or apparent agency theory it is generally a jury decision whether an independent contractor physician is the ostensible/apparent agent of a hospital. In arriving at that decision, the <u>Adamski</u> court relied upon Restatement (2nd) of Agency, Section 267 (1958). It provides:

One who represents that another is his servant or other agent and thereby causes a third person justifiably to rely upon the care or skill of such apparent agent is subject to liability to the third person for harm caused by the lack of care or skill of the one appearing to be a servant or other agent as if he were such.

<u>Id.</u> at 112.

The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions have adopted Adamski in producing the instruction on the issue of a nonemployed physician being the apparent agent of a hospital. 6 Washington Practice, Washington Pattern Jury Instruction, Civil WPI 105.02.03 (7th Ed.). The comment section to this instruction relies almost exclusively on the <u>Adamski</u> decision as the Washington authority on the issue of a non-employee physician being the apparent agent of a hospital. <u>See also</u>, WPI 105.02.01.

Prior to the ruling in this case, Division III also filed a previous opinion that is consistent with its position here. In Wilson v. Grant, 162 Wn. App. 731, 258 P.3d 689 (2011), Division III addressed this issue and adopted the Adamski rule. In doing so, the Wilson court also cited with approval Restatement (2nd) of Agency, Section 267 (1958). Id. at 744.

The <u>Wilson</u> court clearly and succinctly set forth the well-recognized rule in Washington to determine whether a non-employed physician can be the ostensible/apparent agent of a hospital.

To recover under the theory of apparent agency, the state must show: (1) conduct by the hospital that would cause a reasonable person to believe that Dr. Grant was an agent of the hospital, and (2) reliance on the apparent agency relationship by the decedent.

Id.

Consequently, there are three previous Washington reported appellate decisions that have addressed the exact issue presented here. The rule of law was set forth in Washington in 1978 under the <u>Adamski</u> decision and has been consistently followed for the 45 years since then. Any contention by the Plaintiffs that Division III's ruling in this case conflicts with decisions of the Washington appellate courts is erroneous.

B. THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION FOLLOWED THE OVERWHELMING LAW FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS

Although not binding on this Court, this Court considers the relevant opinions from other jurisdictions addressing a particular issue as persuasive. See, Boeing Co. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 113 Wn.2d 869, 878, 784 P.2d 507 (1990). There is an abundance of case law addressing this specific issue from other jurisdictions.

Other jurisdictions have almost universally adopted the holding of Division III here, and by the Washington appellate courts in the Mohr, Adamski, and Wilson cases. That rule being that courts from other jurisdictions adopt the rationale of the Restatement (2nd) of Agency, Section 267 (1958) or similar rule of law in determining whether a factfinder can conclude a nonemployed physician is the agent of a hospital. See, e.g., James v. Ingalls Memorial Hospital, 791 N.E.2d 627 (Ill. App. 1998); Brown v. St. Vincent's Hospital, 899 So.2d 227 (Ala. 2004); Jones v. Healthsouth Treasure Valley Hospital, 206 P.3d 473 (2009); Simmons v. Tuomey Regional Medical Center, 533 S.E.2d 312 (S.C. 2000); Markel v. William Beaumont Hospital, 982 N.W.2d 151 (Mich. 2022).

Moreover, the majority of jurisdictions that have specifically addressed the non-delegable duty argument raised by Plaintiff have rejected it. See, e.g., Estates of Milliron v. Francke, 793 P.2d 824 (Mont. 1990); Pamperin v. Trinity Memorial Hospital, 423 N.W.2d 848 (Wisc. 1988); Baptist

Hospital System v. Sampson, 969 S.W.2d 945 (Tex. 1998); Kelly
v. St. Luke's Hospital of Kansas City, 826 S.W.2d 391 (Mo. App. 1992); Bain v. Colbert County NW Alabama Health Care
Authority, 233 So.3d 945 (Ala. 2017); Tiplady v. Maryles, 120
A.3d 528 (Conn. App. 2015), appealed denied, 125 A.3d 527
(Conn. App. 2017); Renown Health, Inc. v. Vanderford, 235 P.3d 614 (Nev. 2010).

C. BASIS FOR VICARIOUS LIABILITY IS NOT APPLICABLE HERE

The principle foundation of the theory that a principal can be vicariously liable for the acts of others is the right to control. "The doctrine of respondeat superior, which is the basis of vicarious tort liability in this jurisdiction whether an agent or an employee is involved, requires that the one charged with imputed liability have control of or the right to control the physical actions of the negligent actor." McLean v. St. Regis Paper Co., 6 Wn. App. 727, 732, 460 P.2d 571 (1972). See also, Hollingberry v. Dunn, 68 Wn.2d 75, 411 P.2d 431 (1966).

There is fairness to a rule that a principal can be liable for the acts of the other if the principal has the right to control the conduct and activities of the other. That concept of fairness evaporates when the principal has no ability to control the actions of another.

The undisputed facts demonstrated to the trial court are that Samaritan had absolutely no right to control the actions of Dr. Davis or Dr. Cruite. These specialist physicians are ethically required to exercise their independent judgment and hospitals do not control those independent judgment decisions.

This factor should weigh heavily against a decision to expand hospital's vicarious liabilities for a non-employed physician that merely has staff privileges at the hospital. Staff privileges at a hospital do not impose vicarious liability. <u>Burnett v. Spokane Ambulance</u>, 54 Wn. App. 162, 169, 772 P.2d 1027, rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 1005 (1989).

D. PUBLIC INTEREST WOULD BE HARMED BY ADOPTING THE RULE ADVOCATED BY PLAINTIFF

1. <u>It would be a hardship for Washington hospitals</u> to absorb the increased costs

A discussion of the policy reasons of imposing vicarious lability in a case decided over 50 years ago is equally applicable now and persuasive.

. . . They contend that St. Regis, rather than the innocent injured plaintiff, should bear the loss as part of its cost of doing business; and that St. Regis is better able to absorb the loss and distribute it through prices to the community at large.

This contention might possess arguable merit if we could limit consideration of the question of vicarious tort liability to the large, well-to-do commercial establishment with the strength and financial ability to absorb or pass along to the public the risk which such extension of the doctrine would This type of liability, however, must attach uniformly to all regardless of size and resources. The 'deep pockets' referred to by some of the legal writers as the rationale for the doctrine of vicarious tort liability, may indeed be a shallow pocket; and the serious effect of the extension of imputed liability to the individual or the small business in the manner suggested is a significant policy consideration which cannot lightly be ignored.

McLean v. St. Regis Paper Co., 6 Wn. App. 727, 733-34, 466 P.2d 251 (1972).

This Court should not lightly ignore the risk which such an extension of the doctrine Plaintiff proposes would generate. Samaritan is a small rural hospital. More significantly, Washington hospitals in general are facing difficult financial issues. A recent newspaper article indicates that hospitals in the state of Washington lost in excess of two billion dollars in 2022.

It is apparent that hospitals in the state of Washington are not "well-to-do commercial establishments." They are facing financial crises for a number of reasons. Public policy would be harmed by placing the burden on them of having even more persons for whom they are vicariously liable. Moreover, it does not serve the public interest for hospitals to distribute the risk through higher prices to the community at large. Raising the cost of health care is not in the public interest.

¹ Yakima Herald-Republic, March 22, 2023 at 1.

2. The change proposed should be left to the legislature

An excellent persuasive analysis of this issue is contained in a case by the Supreme Court of Nevada, Renown Health v. Vanderford, 126 Nev. 221, 235 P.3d 614 (2010). The court in Vanderford cited and relied upon this Court's decision in Niece v. Elmview Group Home, 131 Wn.2d 39, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) in deciding that the decision to impose a non-delegable in this situation should be left to the legislature. The Vanderford court first correctly noted that the rule proposed by the plaintiff here is essentially a strict liability concept. Id. at 224.

The <u>Vanderford</u> court in discussing the public policy concept ruled:

Third, we decline to impose an absolute non-delegable duty on hospitals based upon public policy. This court may refuse to decide an issue if it involves policy questions better left to the legislature. . . .; See also, Niece v. Elmview Group Home, 131 Wn.2d 39, 929 P.2d 420, 428 (1997) (noting that the policy decision to expand the scope of an employer's liability for an employee's intentional acts against a person to whom the employer owes a duty of care "should be left to the

legislature."). The legislature has heavily regulated hospitals and would have codified a non-delegable duty to emergency room patients if the legislature had intended such a duty to be imposed on hospitals.

Id. at 225.

As in <u>Niece</u>, this Court should leave this issue to the Washington legislature. Washington state has significant regulations related to hospitals and if the legislature wanted to codify a non-delegable duty to be imposed on hospitals, it would have done so.

3. The new rule advocated by the Plaintiff is over encompassing

Careful attention should be made to the choice of wording by Plaintiff in the Petition filed in this matter as to what they are requesting. Plaintiff is not only requesting that emergency room physicians, and apparently radiologists, that provide care in an emergency room as a matter of law be deemed the agents of the hospital. Plaintiff requests that all non-employed physicians treating patients in the emergency department are the hospital's agent. (*See*, *e.g.*, *Petition for Review at i*, *2*, *9*, *13*).

Frequently a patient's primary care physician, specialists that have treated a patient, or other specialists are called in to the emergency department to provide care. Under Plaintiff's proposed unjustified expansion of potential liability, all of these various physicians would as a matter of law be deemed the hospital's agents for whom the hospital is vicariously liable.

Moreover, any other physician that merely has staff privileges at the hospital that provides a service related to the patient while the patient is in the emergency department would be the hospital's agent under Plaintiff's theory. This would include potentially pathologists, anesthesiologists, hematologists, any specialist physician that an emergency physician contacted to consult regarding the patient, and many other specialist physicians. Essentially, Plaintiff's proposal has no bounds. This is a disservice to the public because it potentially exposes Washington hospitals to exponentially greater liability.

4. There is no demonstration that the current law has negatively impacted the public interest

In the Petition filed in this case, Plaintiff has submitted no evidence that the rule adopted in <u>Adamski</u> has resulted in any injustice or unfairness to any medical malpractice plaintiff in the state of Washington. The Plaintiff has not even presented any anecdotal evidence. Samaritan is not aware of any such evidence.

To the contrary, there is strong evidence that the <u>Adamski</u> rule is a workable rule that has provided justice to malpractice plaintiffs. This evidences the fact that it has been in existence for over 44 years.

5. <u>Making such medical malpractice cases more complicated is not in the public interest</u>

The Plaintiff represented at the trial court level that its reason for advocating this change in Washington law is so that plaintiffs would only have to sue hospitals and not individual physicians. (CP 12, 13-14). However, adoption of the rule advocated by the Plaintiff most likely would not produce such a

result. Instead, it would just add complexity to a medical malpractice case involving alleged negligence by a non-employed physician.

The emergency room physician as well as the radiologist involved in this case had separate medical malpractice liability insurance. (CP 609-10, 782). If Plaintiff did not independently name them as defendants in this case, the hospital most likely would have filed a contribution claim under RCW 4.22.040. This would cause confusion to the jury and leave the jury wondering why the hospital is suing a physician that practices at the hospital. Such a situation would also be prejudicial to the defendant hospital to bring a claim against non-employed physicians on its hospital staff.

Furthermore, such a rule would be detrimental to the nonemployed physicians. Under the scenario where the plaintiff is only naming the hospital and claiming the hospital is vicariously liable for acts of non-employed physicians, the physicians would most likely be named in the body of the complaint. Obviously, if there was a verdict against the hospital it would be based upon these physician's act. Such a result would require reporting of the physician to the National Practitioner's Data Bank. (See 45 CFR, Part 60).

Reporting to the NPDB is damaging to a physician. It impacts that physician's ability to obtain privileges at hospitals, obtain liability insurance, and the physician's ability to be an approved provider by health insurance providers.

There is an inherent conflict of interest in these medical malpractice cases where a plaintiff is alleging the non-employed physician is negligent but also that the hospital's nurses may have been negligent in not providing sufficient information to the non-employed physician. A physician needs independent counsel under such a scenario to protect his or her interests. This is achieved under the current rule which typically necessitates that the Plaintiff specifically name the non-employed physicians as defendants.

6. Radical change in the law is unnecessary

Anyone that has some fundamental knowledge of a health care system or is up on current affairs knows that independent contractor physicians are becoming the exception rather than the rule. Hospital systems are expanding and taking over additional hospitals. The majority of physicians now are employees of hospitals, large clinic or hospital systems.

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